IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1508

Florida Bar No. 184170

ITT HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST,

Petitioner,

vs.

STILES JERRY OWENS and JEAN A. OWENS, his wife,

Respondents.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

)

)

) )

)

)

)

)

### BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS ITT HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward (954) 525-5885 - Dade

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

#### <u>Overview</u>

The decision in this case, granting an additur of \$819,000, without giving the Defendant the alternative of a new trial on damages, is contrary to all Florida law on point and must be quashed and a new trial granted or the Jury Verdict reinstated. <u>ITT Hartford Insurance Company of the Southeast v.</u> Owens, 760 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)

What happened was that there was disputed medical and economic testimony as to the amount of the Plaintiff's future medical and, other economic damages, the number of years over which the Plaintiff would live and the present value of those economic damages. As in any case, the doctors and economists for both sides gave numerous alternative ways and numbers to calculate these damages, and eventually the jury entered a Verdict finding total future damages to be \$1.8 million, the number of years he would live to be 25 years, and the present value to be \$72,000 as follows:

> 2. What is the amount of any future damages for medical expenses to be sustained by Stiles Jerry Owens in future years?

a. Total damages over future years?

### <u>\$1,800,000.00</u>

b. The number of years over which those

-vii-

future damages are intended to provide compensation?25 years

c. What is the present value of those future damages? \$72,000.00

<u>Owens</u>, 211.

It should be noted that \$72,000 per year times 25 years yields \$1.8 million dollars.

After trial, the Plaintiff moved for an additur contending that \$1.8 million was the amount the jury had intended to be the correct one, and that the jury miscalculated the \$72,000, whereas the Defendant contended that the \$72,000 was the amount the jury intended, and that the jury miscalculated the \$1.8 million. The Defendant further contended there was evidence to support the \$72,000, but no evidence to support the \$1.8 million.

In any event, after hearings on Post-trial Motions, the judge surmised that the jury intended to award the \$1.8 million and not the \$72,000, and then picked certain portions of the expert testimony to discern it should grant an additur of \$819,214, and granted an additur for that amount, but refused to give the Defendant the option of a new trial.

On appeal, the Third District affirmed by two to one vote; with the dissent saying that under Florida law a trial judge clearly has to give the option of a new trial, if an additur is granted. <u>Owens</u>, 213.

The Motion for Rehearing and the Motion for Rehearing En Banc were filed and the Motion for Rehearing En Banc was denied by a six to five vote. Based on direct and express conflict this Court accepted jurisdiction.

-viii-

#### Specific Facts

The Plaintiff was involved in an automobile accident on May 11, 1994, and injured his right hand and arm (R 1-6; 7-11; 20-24). Ultimately, the case went to trial against two UIM carriers, Hartford and Prudential; with the Plaintiff seeking only past and future medical expenses and past and future pain and suffering (T 20).

The first doctor to testify was Kenneth Fisher, the Plaintiff's treating neurologist who is also certified in pain management, who saw Owens two years after the accident (T 42-45). Mr. Owens was referred to Dr. Fisher by Plaintiff's counsel for pain management treatment and he saw the Plaintiff six times related to the trauma to his nerves in his arm and the severe pain that resulted (T 45-46). Dr. Fisher described how the Plaintiff could move his hand from side to side, but could not move it up and down, his arm was not paralyzed; this was due to major trauma to his right arm, which had sustained fractures, he had immobility of his wrist and immediately suffered from carpal tunnel syndrome (T 49-51). His orthopedic surgeon tried to give him relief for the carpal tunnel and ended up fusing his wrist (T 510).

Dr. Fisher next saw the Plaintiff in February of 1997. By then, Owens had developed migraine headaches due to the tension of his hand and arm problems, and by this time, a few years after the accident he had developed reflect sympathetic dystrophy (RSD) (T 51-52). There is extraordinary pain associated with this

-ix-

condition and Fisher and Owens' rehabilitation doctor, Litchblau, decided to give him nerve blocks (T 54). By November of 1997, the RSD was worse (T 56). Dr. Fisher then described a nerve block, how it is done on an out patient basis; it was a very dangerous procedure; the single ones did not seem to be working well, so he recommended the overlapping ones that were done by Dr. Demeo, an expert in that field; and Mr. Owens had all the classic signs of the RSD condition (T 58-64). To the disappointment of Dr. Fisher, even after these nerve blocks, Owens was back to his original condition without significant improvement (T 65). Owens has now progressed to the second stage of RSD with more constant pain and discomfort; there was no way to tell if his condition would get better or worse (T 66-67). While there were patients who had gotten completely better from this condition, he did not think that Owens was one of them; there was the possibility that Owens could undergo a sympathetectomy, which only had a 75% success rate (T 68-69). Dr. Fisher felt however there was little chance of success with the sympathetectomy, which could cost from \$10,000-\$12,000 (T 71-72). He recommended no more nerve blocks since they were not successful; they had not helped him; this series of blocks cost about \$13,000-\$14,000 (T 73). Dr. Demeo put Owens on a sympathetic nerve block medication and Dr. Fisher put him on Paxil (T 74). Owens is also taking an anti-seizure medicine and migraine medicine to modify his symptoms (T 74). The Plaintiff's diagnosis is ulnar neuropathy and if it got worse he might require surgery; if his RSD got worse, he may have to have a

-x-

sympathetectomy; and if his RSD spread to other parts of his body, this could be very serious (T 75-76).

The doctor opined that Mr. Owens had a 100% impairment in his right arm (T 79-80). He lost any useful activity in his right arm such as carrying, lifting, pushing, pulling; he could not play tennis, golf, basketball, football, weight lift (T 80). He could not use his right arm at all because if anyone touches it, it will be uncomfortable (T 81-82).

Regarding future medical care, Owens would need an orthopedic surgeon to check on the prior surgeries; a neurologist to make sure the RSD was not progressing; a rehabilitation specialist; a psychiatrist because of the depressive effects of his injuries; and a physical therapist from time to time and medications (T 83). On cross, Dr. Fisher said he felt that his opinion on the failure of the nerve blocks, overrode that of Dr. Demeo who actually performed them (T 100). Dr. Fisher disagreed with Dr. Silverman's recommendation of nerve interruption to reduce or cure Owens' pain (T 106). Dr. Fisher admitted that he saw Owens two years after the accident and for those previous two years Owens' well-known orthopedic surgeon had not recommended he see a neurologist (T 108). Since he was not recommending any further nerve blocks, there was no additional costs to Owens in the future for those medical procedures (T 111).

Next, Owens' rehab doctor, Litchblau, testified about the fact that RSD took a chronic pain specialist to treat; and that he treated more than anybody in the United States (T 119-120).

-xi-

Dr. Litchblau diagnosed Owens' RSD condition and described how Owens could have surgical procedures such as sympathectomies; chemical treatment; or combinations of blocks and aggressive therapy, which was the track chosen by Dr. Litchblau (T 123-126). The blocks can give wonderful relief even if they only last six months or two years until there is another flare up of the disease (T 126). The doctor claimed there was a 50% chance Owens would have RSD in his left arm within five years; his recommendation was for Owens to do nothing; then he recommended eight blocks, twice a year at the cost of \$27,196.69; and \$2,400 for physical therapy (T 128). It would cost Owens \$1,000 -\$3,000 a year for oral medication and \$11,625 if he had the ulnar transposition surgery (T 139). If he had a procedure called a CMC joint arthroplasty, that would cost \$31,625 (T 129-130). Dr. Litchblau also stated that he needed the care of a chronic pain specialist, one to three times a month for two years and once a year for the rest of his life with an initial exam of \$75 - \$225 and \$30 - \$90 for every visit (T 130). In addition, Owens would need a psychiatrist once a month for the next year and then once a year for the rest of his life; an orthopedic surgeon to operate on him one time a year and a general physician one time a year (T 130-131). Every five to ten years, he would need a neck x-ray at the cost of \$112.32; a CAT scan once every five to ten years costing \$1,405.94 and \$244 to read it (T 131). The probability of Owens getting worse was low (T 132). Owens would have to baby his arm and protect it for the rest of his life (T 133). He too testified that surgery for the Plaintiff was not

-xii-

a good idea and his understanding of the nerve block treatment by Dr. Demeo was that Owens had very minimal improvement (T 133).

On cross-examination Dr. Litchblau testified that Owens had grade one RSD; on the average he should have 16 nerve blocks every year for the rest of his life, some years more, some years less (T 136-137). He admitted however that Owens never had even a block of eight done; just one block of six; and he never had the CAT scans Dr. Litchblau was recommending in the future(T 137).

Dr. Litchblau admitted that he was not aware that Dr. Fisher had just testified that he did <u>not</u> recommend any future nerve blocks for Owens; and he did not defer to Dr. Fisher regarding the nerve blocks (T 152-153).

The deposition of Dr. Hubbell was read to the jury (T 175-176). Dr. Hubbell is a Georgia physician who specializes in treating RSD (DH 3-5). He saw Owens in 1997 and diagnosed him with a cervical herniated disc, post status right wrist fusion and RSD with right shoulder hand syndrome (DH 5). The doctor described the various treatments given to Mr. Owens including rehabilitation physical therapy, nerve blocks, muscle relaxers, the various drugs he was on and then stated that the object of the nerve blocks was to get a permanent relief, but unfortunately that was not the case with Mr. Owens (DH 6-11). The nerve blocks did not work for him, it was possible his RSD would worsen; he would have to continue medication on a long-term basis; and there might be other type of therapies that could be beneficial (DH 11-12). He discussed the ulnar distribution atrophy, its cyclic

-xiii-

effect on the elbow and arm muscles (DH 14-16). Dr. Hubbell also did <u>not</u> recommend any further surgery, because it could make the RSD worse DH 17-18). RSD could be cured, but Owens' case could not be (DH 19).

On cross-examination, Dr. Hubbell deferred to the doctors in Florida regarding their diagnosis of a cervical disc, since he had never even seen Owens' MRI; and he thought that overall Owens had improved from what he had seen in the past, but he was pretty much at maximum medical improvement at this time (DH 22-26). Dr. Hubbell did not recommend a sympathectomy, as it was a radical procedure and usually had to be done more than once; and Owens was better off without it (DH 29-31).

The two video depositions of Dr. Ouelette were then showed to the jury (T 176-178). Dr. Ouelette is an orthopedic hand surgery specialist at the University of Miami and an associate professor at UM (DO 4). Owens was referred to her after the 1994 accident and had already been diagnosed with interosseous scapholunate ligament tear, he had already undergone arthroscopic surgery and the pinning of his scapholunate (DO 6). After the pins had been removed, he had gone through rehab and was still having pain and difficulty with his wrist and he came to her for a second opinion (DO 6). The first surgery had been successful as far as strengthening his hand ligaments, the bone was stable, but Owens did not have a successful result of the pinning surgery; so she recommended a whole wrist fusion (DO 12-17). She described the wrist fusion she performed, it was a definitely painful procedure and included the insertion of a metal plate

-xiv-

into the bones (DO 19-25). During the surgery she discovered another malfunctioning piece of his hand that was going to require a second surgery (DO 26-28). In 1996, Owens underwent the third surgery that stabilized his wrist joint, removed the metal plate to get it out of the way; she confirmed his carpal tunnel syndrome; and she did a release of the transverse carpal ligament in the same surgery (DO 28-30; 31-36).

The doctor testified there was pain associated with these surgeries, but not terrible horrific pain (DO 38-39). The doctor predicted that Owens would have ulnar nerve entrapment, that would cost approximately \$12,000 to have that operated on (DO 39-41). Dr. Ouelette gave Owens a 26-27% whole body impairment, based on 20% for the wrist fusion and 3-6% related to the carpal tunnel (DO 44-45). She opined that over the next five years Owens might have to have CMC joint arthroplasty (DO2 8-11). This would cost about \$12,000 (DO2 11).

On cross-examination she explained she had not diagnosed Owens with a herniated disc and last time she saw Mr. Owens he had mild carpal tunnel (DO2 24-28). Regarding the ulnar nerves he had healthy good normal nerve conduction and no muscle atrophy (DO2 30-31). Dr. Ouelette testified that the two surgeries that she thought Owens would need in the next five years were both done as outpatient procedures, with a 90% success rate (DO2 36-37). Other than any potential neck problem, the doctor did <u>not</u> believe Owens would have to continue seeing orthopedic surgeons for the rest of his life (DO2 38). Owens would <u>not</u> need a physiatrist, there was an RSD problem; again, he would <u>not</u> need

-xv-

annual CAT scans and x-rays unless there was some disc herniation problem (DO2 38-39). Owens was left with a low-level of discomfort; he is not perfectly absolutely normal, but he had overall good function (DO2 44-45). Owens would be able to use his hand, as opposed to somebody who had complete nerve damage; it was not a devastating injury, just a constant reminder that he would have to live with (DO2 45). Her opinion was based on him having the two surgeries over the next five years (DO2 47). She considered Owens to have a significant injury; and Owens had symptoms consistent with a C6 radioculopathy (DO2 49-51). The doctor ended her testimony by stating that when she observed Owens' arm just two months before, he had no motor deficits (DO2 52-53).

Dr. Shellow, a non-treating psychiatrist, testified that Owens' is suffering from a major depressive disorder of moderate severity (T 182-185). He evaluated Owens three times, in October of 1997 and May of 1998; the first time he was diagnosed with adjustment disorder with depressed mood, but since his symptoms persisted despite good treatment, his diagnosis was changed to major depressive disorder (T 188). The cause of this depression was the disability that he suffered due to the auto accident; he had a past history of coping well with life's difficulties, but he did not have a psychiatric syndrome prior to the accident (T 189-190). His self-esteem was tied up with his ability to be financially successful and from being in competitive weightlifting with his wife; and after his arm was injured he could not do things with his wife anymore and his job causes him to have

-xvi-

increased pain (T 191). His condition is treatable with relaxation, cognitive restructuring, psychotherapy and anti-depressants, which Owens was taking (T 192).

On cross, Dr. Shellow had admitted not having spoken to Owens' treating psychologist, or read his deposition (T 197-198). He admitted that Owens losing his job in Florida could have been a factor in his depression; , because that can be almost as devastating as a death in the family (T 199). In addition, he had to make a major geographical move to Atlanta which was stressful as well; but the doctor testified he handled that all fine because he got a better job making more money. He dealt with all of these stresses better than the disability in his right arm (T 199-200). The doctor opined that while these stressful events could contribute to his depression, they really did not (T 200). Regarding Owens' self-esteem, certainly the fact that Owens was a functioning, very successful salesperson was a positive thing regarding his well-being (T 205). The doctor testified that Owens' self-respect was injured by his recognition that he is not the person he used to be (T 207). The doctor found that the onset of RSD three and a half years after the accident was a corollary to his depression; but the fact that his daughter and her husband moved in with him was not stressful; nor was the tornado that blew the roof off his house (T 207-209).

Gary Anderson, the Plaintiff's economist testified next (T 212). He told the jury his job was to relate the elements of future medical care based on what Dr. Litchblau had projected and to reduce those to present value (T 214). The doctor began with

-xvii-

loss of services and the fact that Owens' could not mow the lawn, vacuum the house, etc., which he valued as a loss of \$12 a day and then he explained to the jury, in detail, how he came up with his final figure adjusting for inflation, his life expectancy, etc. (T 216). He explained to the jury how he got the present value for past lost services for four years of \$17,158 and the total of future lost services was \$226,000 (T 222-225). With reduction to present value, it was \$25,324 (T 225). Anderson used \$2,000 a year for medications and with the costs of the surgical procedures CAT scans, x-rays, etc., he came up with two models of future expenses, one with invasive pain control and one with not invasive pain control (T 226-228). He explained each of the various components, one by one, in future and present value and one suggested model was a total of \$1,769,485, with a present value of \$635,840 (T 229-233); and then if he got half the nerve blocks, eight instead of sixteen a year, the total would be \$884,743 with a present value of \$317,920 (T 233). With non-evasive therapy the future cost of medical expenses would be <u>\$156,154 with a present value of \$56,112</u> (T 235). Using ganglion blocks, the total future amount was \$975,000 with the present value of \$344,309 (T 236). Then, Anderson testified that under model one, with eight nerve blocks a year and non-invasive pain therapy, the total would be \$1,222,873 (T 237). Model two had invasive therapy and the total was \$1,157,938, and the present value of \$422,032 (T 238). Dr. Anderson explained that these numbers changed depending on the input as to what was needed and what was not; again, he explained his job was to do an economic

-xviii-

analysis to figure our how much was needed today, what is the present value you need, to be able to pay that amount in the future (T 239-240). The discussion continued on present value, again, the Plaintiff went over the fact that there was no future value for past lost of services and past medicals; for future loss services model one and model two were the same \$226,089; model one treatment had a medical expense value of \$1,222,872 and a model two value of \$1,157,938 (T 242-243). The expert again explained that if the jury was going to compensate for all the costs, the figure to be awarded was the lower figure, the present value figure, so there was no confusion (T 243). Anderson continued to discuss the calculations involving inflation, interest rates and ended his testimony by stating his figures were fairly conservative (T 243-244).

Anderson testified that if certain medical treatment was not needed, or certain services were not needed, the ultimate bottom line numbers would change (T 280). Anderson again testified that if Owens' physician, Dr. Fisher was correct, that Owens would not need, nor did the doctor recommend, the stellate ganglion blocks, this entire huge number for future medical expenses would <u>come</u> <u>out</u> of, or be subtracted from, the bottom line figure (T 284-287).

The Plaintiff, Jerry Owens, testified about his parents being mill workers, his life growing up in Georgia, his military training, how he became a district sales manager and he too testified he was in the best health ever right before the accident (T 314-317). He described how he had always had an

-xix-

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