IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1508

| ITT HARTFORD INSURANCE |
|--------------------------|
| COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST |

Petitioner,

VS.

STILES JERRY OWENS and JEAN A. OWENS, his wife,

| Responde | ents. | |
|----------|-------|--|
| | | |

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

By: JOEL S. PERWIN Fla. Bar No. 316814

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

- 605). The jury rejected that suggestion, liquidating the future medical expenses at \$1.8 million, and Hartford raised no challenge to that finding.
- В. The Verdict. The trial court charged the jury to consider the various elements of damages, including past and future medical expenses (Tr. 626-27), but said nothing about present money value. When the jury's verdict awarded \$1.8 million for future medical expenses, but reduced that number to a present money value of \$72,000 over 25 years (Tr. 634)--thus apparently dividing \$1.8 million by 25--the trial court immediately noted the error: "[O]f course, they couldn't have a present value of million, eight, down to seventy-two thousand. I think they must have meant seven hundred twenty thousand" (Tr. 635). Hartford's repeated representation (see brief at 41-44)--that the plaintiffs made no objection to the verdict before the jury was discharged—is incorrect. Indeed, at a hearing on the issue post-trial, the trial court rejected precisely that contention, recalling that the plaintiffs did ask to send the jury back (R. 540, 571). After the verdict, the plaintiffs immediately agreed with the trial court that "[i]t couldn't be that under [the defendant's] most optimistic result from your expert" (Tr. 635). The court then preempted any effort to recharge the jury: "I don't think we can do anything. They can make this reduction. There is no way I think I can send it back to them" (id.). The plaintiffs responded: "For the record, we request that, and it's denied, I guess" (id.). Thus, the plaintiffs both objected to the verdict and requested that the jury be sent back. Hartford did not make any such request. The jury was polled; the jurors affirmed the verdict; and the jury was excused (Tr. 636-37).

C. The Plaintiff's Post-Trial Motion. Hartford filed no post-trial motion to challenge the jury's liquidation of the future medical expenses at \$1.8 million. The plaintiffs filed a timely "Motion for Rehearing and Additur, or in the Alternative for New Trial" (R. 370-77). It argued that, given the unchallenged verdict of \$1.8 million for future medical expenses, the present-money-value calculation was supported by no competent evidence, because, "using either the discount rate given to the jury by Plaintiff or Defendant, the present value of \$1.8 million could not be \$72,000" (R. 371). The motion asked for an additur under §§ 768.043 or 768.74, Fla. Stat., or "[i]n the alternative the Court can grant the Owens a new trial solely on the issue of the present value of Mr. Owens' future medical expenses" (R. 372). The plaintiffs also filed an affidavit from Dr. Anderson, who ran the specific \$1.8 million verdict against discount rates of 6.31% and 6%, yielding a present money value of \$745,116 and \$773,776 (R. 401-08).

The first hearing on the motion was held on July 16, 1999 (R. 510-26). The plaintiffs again presented the straightforward contention that the jury's award of \$72,000 as the present money value of \$1.8 million was not supported by any evidence of record (R. 516). Ordinarily, the plaintiffs acknowledged, that would create an entitlement to an additur, or in the alternative a new trial—a trial of course limited to "that one issue, reduction. The jury would be given the number which the old jury calculated and would be given the instruction and would have to follow the mathematical formula . . ." (R. 516). In the instant case, however, the plaintiffs argued, such a retrial would not be necessary, because the plaintiffs were willing to

accept the 5 ½% discount rate offered by Hartford's expert—the lowest discount rate supported by the evidence of record (R. 514-15). Hartford was certainly estopped to repudiate the present-money-value calculation which it had introduced, and the plaintiffs were willing to accept that calculation.

Forgetting that neither party had challenged the jury's finding of \$1.8 million in future medical expenses, Hartford countered that the jury might have started with a present money value of \$72,000, and then erroneously worked backward to the \$1.8 million number (R. 518-20). As support for that hypothesis, Hartford said that it had suggested a present money value to the jury of \$82,000 in closing argument (R. 521-23). That statement was incorrect; Hartford said nothing whatsoever about present money value in closing argument (*see* Tr. 604-05). The trial court asked for legal memos, and continued the hearing (R. 522-23).^{2/}

The plaintiffs followed with a supplemental memorandum citing the ample evidence of record supporting the jury's finding of \$1.8 million in future medical

At the end of the transcript of the hearing (R. 522-23), there are three passages attributed to plaintiffs' counsel, "Mr. Perwin," which were obviously statements by Hartford's counsel. The arguments in those passages—that the jury may have started with the \$72,000 number and then worked back; that another part of the jury's verdict "also rejected the plaintiffs' suggestions"; that "echoing Mr. Sherman [Hartford's other counsel], there is no authority that would allow the Court to order a new trial just on one portion of the damages"; and that the court should conduct "a full blown new trial on damages"—certainly were not made by the plaintiffs. Obviously the court reporter simply got the name wrong; and Hartford's contention (brief at 41; *see id.* at 26-27, 44)—that "even Plaintiffs' counsel agreed it was very clear that the jury intended a \$72,000 award and used it to arrive at \$1.8 million for future damages"—is wishful thinking. We have always made precisely the opposite argument.

expenses--a point which Hartford already had conceded by failing to file a post-trial motion challenging that verdict--and arguing that there is no evidentiary basis for the jury to have reduced a \$1.8 million award to \$72,000 over 25 years (R. 409). Without further argument, the trial court issued an order holding that "the jury's decision to reduce future medical damages of \$1,800,000.00 to only \$72,000.00 is not based on the law or the evidence in the case and most likely resulted from a misunderstanding of the concept of present money value" (R. 527). Rather than order a new trial on this discrete issue, "the Court will modify the verdict to conform to the jury's intent by applying a formula for the reduction to present value which is supported by the evidence in the case" (*id.*). The court scheduled a subsequent hearing to discuss the evidence which had been submitted by both sides on the present-money-value question (*id.*).

The trial court heard additional argument in early January of 1999 (R. 534-78). Hartford immediately attempted to re-argue the court's ruling, this time attributing to the plaintiffs the argument that the jury's verdict was inconsistent, and contending that the plaintiffs had waived the point by failing to request that the jury be sent back (R. 537-38). But the court recalled—and the record verifies (*see* Tr. 635)—that the plaintiffs did ask the jury to be sent back, but that the trial court denied that request (R. 540, 571). Thus the plaintiffs had not waived the point (R. 541). And the plaintiffs added that they were not arguing inconsistent verdicts, but only that the present-money-value calculation "is unsupported by the evidence," and the appellate decisions "say it's not necessary to send the jury back in that context" (R. 541).

Hartford's lawyer then retreated to its "second point"—"it can't be corrected by the Court, that this is a jury function" (Tr. 541). The plaintiffs countered that the evidence of record supported only two discount rates; that the plaintiffs were willing to accept the lower rate proposed by Hartford; that Hartford certainly was estopped to deny the propriety of that rate; that the calculation based on that rate is entirely mathematical; and thus there would be nothing for a second jury to try (R. 542-44, 560, 566-67, 569). Indeed, the plaintiffs were willing to allow Hartford to do the calculation, based on the discount rate offered by its witness (R. 547).

The court agreed that if the parties were limited to "what the evidence was at trial . . . the rest of it just might be calculations, just mathematical calculations" (R. 544). At most, the trial court said, a new trial would be limited to the discrete issue of reducing the jury's award of \$1.8 million to present money value (R. 574). Thus, given that neither side's expert had calculated present money value based on the precise award of \$1.8 million, the trial court instructed both sides to utilize the lower discount rate proposed by Hartford's expert, 5 ½%—the lowest rate supported by the evidence—and provide the court with a present-money valuation of \$1.8 million at that rate, over 25 years (R. 550-53, 555, 575). 3/2

^{3/} Thus, there is no truth to Hartford's repeated claim that the trial judge decided to "pick and choose" from the evidence (brief at 32), taking "bits and pieces" (brief at 30), and "substituted her calculation" of present money value (brief at 41). The court simply accepted both Hartford's evidence of the appropriate discount rate, and Hartford's calculation of present money value.

That day, the plaintiff filed a letter from its economist, Dr. Anderson, liquidating the present money value of the jury's finding of future medical expenses, at the time of trial, at \$871,847.59 (R. 477). Hartford subsequently submitted a memo from its economist, Dr. Williams, which calculated the same number at \$819,214 (*see* R. 480). The trial court accepted the lower number, ordering an additur of \$819,214, plus interest (R. 531). Hartford followed with its first motion for a new trial–filed eight months after the jury's verdict–arguing that it was entitled to a new trial as an alternative to additur, under § 768.043, Fla. Stat. (1997). The trial court denied the motion (R. 533).

D. The District Court's Decision. Hartford's brief on appeal raised three and only three arguments: 1) that the jury could have properly reduced an award of \$1.8 million to a present money value of \$72,000 (Brief of Appellant at 29-40); 2) that the trial court erred in accepting Hartford's measure of present money value and calculating the additur on that basis, instead of ordering a retrial on that issue (*id.* at 40-47); and 3) that under §\$768.043(1) and 768.74(3), Fla. Stat. (1987), the retrial must also encompass all of the other, uncontested damage issues--not just the single contested issue of present money value (*id.* at 47-49). Despite an occasional snipe at the jury's \$1.8 million award of future medicals, Hartford made no issue of the sufficiency of the evidence to support that award. It therefore waived the point at the appellate level as well as the trial level. See infra notes 5, 6.

In a 2-1 decision authored by Judge Cope and joined by Judge Sorondo, the district court addressed only those issues raised by Hartford in its brief, and "entirely

agree[d] with the trial court's conclusion that the jury intended to award \$1.8 million for future medical expenses. The error was in the present value calculation which the jury did not understand. Therefore, the court was correct in determining that appellee was entitled to an additur" (A. 3).⁴ The district court acknowledged that "[n]ormally, defendant would have the option of refusing the additur and obtaining a new trial on the issue of damages" (*id.*). But "the only issue to be tried here if a new trial were granted would be the reduction of future medical expenses to present money value. Plaintiffs accepted defendant's discount rate for the reduction to present value. That concession by plaintiffs left no issue to be tried" (*id.*).

In reaching this conclusion, the district court disagreed with the two decisions relied upon in dissent by Judge Gersten--*Jarvis v. Tenet Health Systems Hospital, Inc.*, 743 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) and *Food Lion v. Jackson*, 712 So.2d 800 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). Both cases address an unrelated question--"whether, once an additur was rejected by the defendant, the trial court should have ordered a new trial on damages only, or on damages and liability. . . . Both courts concluded that, under the circumstances, a new trial was required on damages but not liability" (A. 3). Neither case addressed the question of whether the new trial on damages should encompass damage issues which have never been challenged. And neither addressed the question of whether a new trial is required when the plaintiff is willing to stipulate to the defendant's measure of damages.

⁴ "A." refers to the Appendix filed with Hartford's brief.

The district court noted that §768.043(1) calls for a new trial "on the issue of damages only," but does not interpret that phrase (A. 3). Clearly "in the case of a general verdict, there would be a new trial on all damages" (*id.*). But when the verdict is itemized, the Court said, the statutory phrase "issue of damages" "logically means the interrogatory affected by the excessiveness or inadequacy. There is no reason to disturb other items in the jury's verdict which are not implicated in the excessiveness or inadequacy" (*id.*). The court noted that the only decisions to address the issue have all agreed with this common-sense construction of the statute (A. 3-4). *See Astigarraga v. Green,* 712 So.2d 1183 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1998); *Altilio v. Gemperline,* 637 So.2d 299, 302 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); *Dyes v. Spick,* 606 So.2d 700, 703-04 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (A. 3-4).

In the instant case, the court held, "there is a facial error in the present value calculation for future medical expenses, but this problem logically has no effect on any of the other itemized damages" (A. 4). And here "the plaintiffs accepted defendant's present value calculation, leaving no issue to be tried" (*id.*). Thus, the district court affirmed the judgment.

Judge Gersten dissented, arguing that the plain language of the statute required a new trial on all damage issues, even if all but one of them were wholly undisputed by the defendant. The dissent gave no reason why the Legislature would require a new trial on the undisputed issues of damages.

Hartford sought review by this Court on one and only one ground--that the trial court had erred in utilizing Hartford's discount rate to calculate present money value,

and thus the additur, rather than submitting that issue to a jury (*see* Brief of Petitioner on Jurisdiction). Hartford did *not* seek review on the ground that any new trial should include all of the damage issues. In an order dated February 16, 2001, this Court accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument.

II ISSUES ON APPEAL

A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE JURY'S PRESENT-MONEY-VALUE DETERMINATION WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD.

B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE LOWEST MEASURE OF PRESENT MONEY VALUE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE, IN LIEU OF ORDERING A NEW TRIAL ON THAT ISSUE ALONE.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the outset, we need to emphasize again the posture in which this appeal arises. The jury awarded \$1.8 million for future medical expenses, and Hartford at no time challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support that ruling, thus waiving any such contention both at trial^{5/} and on appeal.^{6/} Nor did Hartford argue after the

⁵ See 6551 Collins Ave. Corp. v. Miller, 104 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1958); Wagner v. Nottingham Associates, 464 So. 2d 166, 169 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 475 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1985); Laird v. Potter, 367 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), cert. denied, 378 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 1979).

⁶ See Dober v. Worrell, 401 So. 2d 1322 (Fla.1981); Gifford v. Galaxie Homes of Tampa, Inc., 204 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1967); Lynch v. Tennyson, 443 So. 2d 1017 (Fla. 5th

verdict that the jury's liquidation of the \$1.8 million future medical expenses was inconsistent with the jury's reduction of those expenses to a present money value of \$72,000. Any such contention must be raised before the jury is discharged, or it is waived.^{7/}

In the absence of any challenge by Hartford to the jury's determination of the future medicals at \$1.8 million, either at trial or on appeal; and in the absence of any challenge by Hartford that the two verdicts were inconsistent, either at trial or on appeal, the propriety of the jury's \$1.8 million verdict has never been at issue. The only question properly raised at trial, in the district court, and in this Court, is whether the jury's finding that future costs of \$1.8 million reduce to a present money value of \$72,000 is supported by the evidence of record.

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